
 

The Reports listed above can be made available in alternative formats for the 
visually impaired. For further information about this service, or if you have any 

queries regarding the above items please contact Karen Luck on 01622 602743 
 

 

REPORTS FOR DECISION BY THE 

CABINET MEMBER FOR ENVIRONMENT 

 

Date Issued: 06 October 2011 

 

 Page Nos. 

1. Report of the Assistant Director of Environment and 
Regulatory Services - Defra Air Quality Grant 2011/2012  

1 - 54 

 

 

A Record of Decision will be issued following the 

conclusion of 5 clear working days from the date of issue 
of the Report 

 



 

MAIDSTONE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

CABINET MEMBER FOR THE ENVIRONMENT 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF REGULATORY AND 

ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES  
 
Report prepared by John Newington  

Date Issued: 06 October 2011 

 

1. Approval to Accept Defra Air Quality Grant 2011/2012] 
 

1.1 Key Issue for Decision 
 

1.1.1 To consider the Defra air quality grant proposal (2011/2012) 
(Attached in Appendix A and Appendix B) and consider whether to 
accept the awarded grant (Appendix C) under the DEFRA terms and 
conditions (Appendix D).  

 

1.2 Recommendation of Assistant Director of Regulatory and 
Environmental Services 

 

1.2.1 That the Cabinet Member accepts the awarded DEFRA air quality 
grant (2011/2012) and agrees to countersigning the agreement 
contract (Appendix D).  

 
1.3 Reasons for Recommendation 
 
1.3.1 The Maidstone Air Quality Action Plan (MAQAP) was approved by the 

Cabinet Member on 3rd December 2010.  Part of that commitment 
(Measure 1 of the MAQAP) states that MBC will:- 

 
 “Source funding and carry out a feasibility study investigating the 

potential for the use of traffic orders or Low Emission Zones for the 
hotspot areas.  

 
 This grant fulfils that commitment and moves the MAQAP forward.  
 
1.4 Historical Background  
 
1.4.1 The MAQAP was developed with the involvement of the Maidstone 

Air Quality and Transport Steering Committee which includes 
relevant internal and external stakeholders.  
 

1.4.2 The draft MAQAP was considered by Environment and Transportation 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 19th October 2010 and one of 

Agenda Item 1

1



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\1\9\AI00009913\$wkuqk4gc.doc 

their recommendations was to include “the possibility for tougher 
actions, including the introduction of low emissions zones, traffic 
orders and other tools be explored alongside the potential for bids 
for funding of these actions”. 
 

1.4.3 As a result of the consultation exercise measure 1 included the 
following action: 

 
 “Source funding and carry out a feasibility study investigating the 

potential for the use of traffic orders or Low Emission Zones for the 
hotspot areas”. 
 

1.4.4 The final version of the action plan was approved by the Cabinet 
Member on 3rd December 2010, submitted to DEFRA and has since 
been approved by them.  
 

1.4.5 In order to deliver this action MBC applied to DEFRA for an air 
quality grant to investigate the feasibility of low emission schemes, 
including low emission zones (LEZ) in key areas of the town centre 
(grant application included in Appendix A).  

 
1.5 Project Output 
 
1.5.1 Maidstone Borough Council has been proactive in the Local Authority 

Low Emission Partnership.  Despite emission reduction efforts, NO2 
concentrations remain above the EU Limit Value in many parts of the 
Borough.  The Air Quality Action Plan outlines a range of measures 
that will be investigated.  Work is already being undertaken to 
quantify the included measures to show what air quality benefits 
could be realised. 

 
1.5.2 This project will build on the above work and focus more specifically 

on the potential of low emission schemes and low emission zones in 
the most polluted hotspots in Maidstone.  It would define the 
potential schemes that could be implemented (given the vast 
number and scope of different types of low emission zones and low 
emission schemes) and would provide an evidence base to assist 
policy makers and decision makers.  It delivers against Measure 1 of 
the AQAP which seeks to investigate the feasibility of low emission 
zones and schemes in Maidstone.  The scoping phase of this project 
will ensure that any proposals that come forward must be 
achievable, affordable and in accordance with the council’s priorities. 

 
1.5.3 The proposed project includes: 
 

1)  An inception phase:  A short consultation period with the client 
steering group (e.g. main stakeholders including transport 
planners and environmental officers from the Council) to a) 

2



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\1\9\AI00009913\$wkuqk4gc.doc 

understand the overall emphasis or preference for either low 
emission zones or schemes and b) to share with them our 
experience and knowledge to help steer later phases of work.  
Stakeholder consultation should begin and continue throughout. 

 
2) A scoping phase:  Work to assess the potential benefits of 

several options and to prioritise them with the steering group.  
At this stage screening tools are appropriate and the priority is 
to quantify the potential emissions reductions and air quality 
benefits of the options.  Approximate health benefits, 
implementation and enforcement feasibility issues could also be 
stated.  At this stage any proposals that come forward will be 
screened to ensure they are achievable, and in accordance with 
the council’s priorities.  At the detailed stage the cost /benefit 
analysis of these projects will be assessed to ensure that they 
are also affordable. 

 
3) A detailed assessment phase:  A small number of preferred 

options are taken forward from the scoping phase and a full 
analysis of each is done. A high level of quantitative detail is 
possible depending on the traffic and stakeholder data 
available. 

 
1.5.4 The key benefit of this project is to provide the evidence base for 

local decision makers to support the aims of the MAQAP and support 
the developing Integrated Transport Strategy and Car Parking 
Strategy. It is envisaged that the key areas of focus will be in 
addressing bus/taxi emissions in the High Street as well as the 
general volume of traffic: particularly HGVs on the A229 primary 
route that runs north to south through the middle of the town.   
Measures to be considered will be set during the inception and 
scoping phase and may include: 

 
• travel planning,  
• HGV re-routing and  
• the emissions management of buses. 
• Low emission zones of many varieties, drawing on the 

experiences of UK towns and cities that already have low 
emission zones in place (eg Norwich, Cambridge, Oxford and  
London)  

• introduction of electric vehicles,  
• car share schemes,  

 
1.5.5 These are all feasible in Maidstone but the impact of their 

introduction on emissions requires quantifying, along with the cost 
and benefits in monetary terms.  Such robust evidence based on 
local data is necessary to decide on the most cost effective options 
to move forward into the realms of policy setting.  

3



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\1\9\AI00009913\$wkuqk4gc.doc 

1.5.6 The Project will help to provide practical solutions with robust cost 
benefit analysis to use as a platform to secure future funding to 
assist in implementing the right scheme(s) for Maidstone.  It will 
ensure that any proposals that come forward must be achievable, 
affordable and in accordance with the council’s priorities. 

 

1.5.7 The outcomes of this project directly delivers against Measure 1 of 
the MAQAP which seeks to investigate the feasibility of low emission 
zones and schemes in Maidstone.  It will also provide a robust 
evidence base to assist policy makers and decision makers.  It is 
hoped that this project can be used to support the developing 
Integrated Transport Strategy (in development for the Core 
Strategy(CS)) on its route towards adoption in the Spring 2013. 
 

1.5.8 The project plan and the scoping of the objectives set out within that 
plan will be key to the whole enterprise and have been written to 
ensure that we will not be volunteering the council for any proposals 
which could clearly conflict with our existing policies, such as those 
relating to planning and regeneration (see Appendix B).  

 
1.6 DEFRA Contract Timeline 

 
1.6.1 The Council were awarded the full £40K grants from DEFRA 

(appendix C). Following  meetings with the Cabinet Member for the 
Environment (31st August 2011) and CMT (6th September 2011) it 
was agreed that a Project Plan should be produced and submitted to 
DEFRA, which was sent on 12th September 2011. 

  
1.6.2 DEFRA will review the project proposal and if they are satisfied with 

the Project Plan they will formally award the grant by sending the 
Council a signed terms and conditions agreement for countersigning 
(Appendix D). 

 
1.6.3 Legal Services reviewed the terms and conditions of the award 

contract and state that they “cannot find anything in the terms and 
conditions which will fetter us in our future policies, and 
implementation of those policies for the town” and that the “terms 
and conditions relate more specifically to the use of the grant, and 
the production of the report”. 

 
1.6.4 Once DEFRA return the agreement contract and it is countersigned 

by MBC, DEFRA will release the funds and the project can start 
(Early Part of December 2011). 

 
1.7 Alternative Action and why not Recommended 
 
1.7.1 Not accepting the awarded grant is not recommended as it would go 

against the previous Cabinet Member decision and contradict the 

4



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\1\9\AI00009913\$wkuqk4gc.doc 

MAQAP, leaving many questions regarding the quantification of air 
quality improvements unanswered.  This would make it difficult to 
identify which sustainable transport schemes will provide air quality 
improvements in the future.  

 
1.8 Impact on Corporate Objectives 
 
1.8.1 It provides important information to support decision makers in 

making Maidstone a decent place to live. 
 
1.8.2 It supports the development of a sustainable transport system which 

will support a thriving and growing economy. 
 
1.8.3 It delivers on an action of the MAQAP which delivers corporate and 

customer excellence. 
 
1.9 Risk Management  
 
1.9.1 There is a risk that the study will highlight schemes that will benefit 

air quality improvements but would not be economically practical to 
implement and therefore not materialise.  To address this the 
inception and scoping phase of the project will include key 
stakeholders and will direct the feasibility studies.  Cost Benefit 
analyses will help identify a practical way forward, in order to ensure 
that this project can be used as a platform to secure future funding 
and provide the practical solutions that make local sense. 

  
1.10 Other Implications  

 
1.10.1 

1. Financial 
 

 
X 

171. Staffing 
 

 
 

172. Legal 
 

 
X 

173. Equality Impact Needs Assessment 
 

 
 

174. Environmental/Sustainable Development 
 

X 

175. Community Safety 
 

 

176. Human Rights Act 
 

 

177. Procurement 
 

 

178. Asset Management 
 

 

5



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\1\9\AI00009913\$wkuqk4gc.doc 

 
 
1.10.2 Financial 
 

 The DEFRA grant is for £40K and if accepted the funds will be 
received by December 2011.  The funding will cover all aspects of 
the project, including the inception and the scoping phases which will 
determine which low emission schemes will be investigated.  It will 
also cover the cost of carrying out detailed assessments of the 
scoped schemes using advanced modelling methods which will 
provide cost benefit, health impact assessment and quantification of 
air quality benefits. (full details can be seen in Appendix A & B). 

 
 The project is funded by DEFRA and will follow corporate 

procurement policy and therefore there are no financial implications 
for the council with this project.  

 
 This project does not commit the council to future funding of any of 

the investigated schemes.  Implementation of any of the schemes 
investigated would require independent funding through future 
grants or partnership working.  

 
 There is the possibility that European fines may be issued to the UK 

for failure to achieve the annual nitrogen dioxide air quality 
objective.  In the Localism Bill the initial drafts suggest that there 
may be a mechanism included to pass those fines to a local level, 
either at a county or district level. MBC has a duty to work towards 
achieving the Air Quality Objectives and not to achieving them.  This 
project would provide evidence that the Council is taking its 
statutory role seriously and doing all it can. 

 
1.10.3 Legal 

 
The agreement will be re-checked on its receipt from DEFRA and 
counter – signed. 

  

1.10.4 Environmental/Sustainable Development 
 
 The MAQAP provides a direction for action.  This project will provide 

a more robust evidence base in order to help decision makers deliver 
greater sustainability and potentially, better economic growth. 

 
1.11 Relevant Documents 
 
1.11.1 Appendices   

 
Appendix A Maidstone BC Air Quality Grant Application 2011 
Appendix B Maidstone BC Project Plan Sept 2011 

6



D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\3\1\9\AI00009913\$wkuqk4gc.doc 

Appendix C DEFRA Award Letter 
Appendix D DEFRA  Agreement Contract  

1.12 Background Documents  
 

1.12.1  None  
 

 

 

IS THIS A KEY DECISION REPORT? 
 
Yes                                         No  √ 
 
 
 
If yes, when did it first appear in the Forward Plan?  
 
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

 
 
This is a Key Decision because: ……………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
 
Wards/Parishes affected: ………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

 
 
 

How to Comment 

 
Should you have any comments on the issue that is being considered please 
contact either the relevant Officer or the Member of the Executive who will be 
taking the decision. 
 
Cllr Marion Ring Cabinet Member for Environment  
 Telephone: 01622 686492  
 E-mail:  marionring@maidstone.gov.uk 
 
John Newington  Senior Pollution Officer 
 Telephone: 01622 602389 
 E-mail:  John Newington@maidstone.gov.uk 
 

7



Annex B: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 – Application Form  

1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annex B: DEFRA LOCAL AUTHORITY AIR QUALITY GRANT 

APPLICATION FORM 2011/2012  
 

  
Application for air quality grant for local authority capital expenditure on a project to be carried 

out in connection with air quality management duties under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995. 

This application form should be a stand-alone document. No additional supporting documentation, 

such as commercially sensitive quotes for project work and diagrams, will be accepted.  

  

These blue instruction boxes are used throughout the application form, to provide guidance on 

completing this form. 

  

Further information which will help in the completion of this form can be obtained from the LAQM 

helpdesk (0800 032 7953 or email LAQMHelpdesk@uk.bureauveritas.com). Information on the 

grant scheme is available at  http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/air/air-

quality/laqm/grants/  

  

Applications will be evaluated against the following criteria: 

• Quality of the proposed project 

• The extent to which the project meets the priority criteria (see Annex A) 

• Proposals to evaluate the effectiveness of the project  

• The plan to disseminate findings more widely 

• The extent to which the project outcomes are more widely applicable/reproducible  

• The extent to which the project provides value for money  

• The suitability of this funding opportunity for the project  

  

This form must be returned to air.quality@defra.gsi.gov.uk before 5pm on 17
th

 

June 2011. Defra reserves the right not to accept or evaluate any applications 

received after this time and date.  

 

Section 1: Contact Information 

 
1. Local authority name/address/email and phone number;  

  
Only certain authorities are eligible to apply for grant funding as set out in the introductory 

letter. Please see http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/air/air-quality/laqm/grants/  

for more information on which these are. 

 

Where the application is for a cluster or group of authorities, please provide details for the lead 

authority with names of the other authorities in the group. Please give an indication of the 

proportion of input to be had by each local authority to managing the project and/or 

undertaking any of the project work. Eg Local Authority 1 – 80%, Local Authority 2 – 15%, Local 

Authority 3-  5%.  

  

8



Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 – Application Form  

 

2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 2: Technical Information 

 

2. Which pollutant(s) does the project target? 

  
Please indicate which pollutant(s) the proposed project will tackle. The 2011/2012 Grant system 

must focus on NO2 issues. 

  

 

NOx/NO2   NOx/NO2 / PM10 / PM2.5    any additional pollutants    

 

If additional pollutants please provide details  

 

 

 

3. Please detail the aims and objectives of the proposed project. 

 

  
Please provide details of the aim(s) of the proposed project and where possible relate these to 

measures relevant to your air quality action plan. (200 words or less) 

  

 

 

 

Maidstone Borough Council 

King Street 

Maidstone  

Kent 

ME15 6JQ 

 

01622 602389 

johnnewington@maidstone.gov.uk 

 

 

      

 

Maidstone Borough Council has been proactive in the Local Authority Low Emission 
Partnership.  Despite emission reduction efforts, NO2 concentrations remain above the EU 
Limit Value in many parts of the Borough.This project aims to focus on local options to 
reduce emissions and deliver Measure 1 of the Maidstone Action Plan which identifies the 
need for evidence based feasibility work on low emission zones/schemes to be carried out. 
In this project we will collate information on our local traffic profiles followed by the 
production of the evidence base for council decision-makers on the most cost-effective 
measures to implement which will deliver a quantified NOx emission reduction.  To deliver 
this we propose a structured work programme set out below. 

 

9



Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 – Application Form  

 

3 

 

4. Provide a brief description of the proposed project for which funding is being sought. 

 

  
Please describe what the proposed project will involve. Include details on what and how this will 

be done, any public or private partners, the overall timescale for implementation and the project 

duration. N.B You must NOT name consultants or other organisations proposed to carry out any 

aspect of the work (as provided in Terms and Conditions of Award) (500 words or less) 

  

 

 

 

 

The proposed project includes: 

 

1.  An inception phase: A short consultation period with the client steering group (e.g. main 

stakeholders including transport planners and environmental officers from the Council) to a) 

understand the overall emphasis or preference for either low emission zones or schemes and b) to 

share with them our experience and knowledge to help steer later phases of work. Stakeholder 

consultation should begin and continue throughout. 

2. A scoping phase: Work to assess the potential benefits of several options and to prioritise 

them with the steering group. At this stage screening tools are appropriate and the priority is to 

quantify the potential emissions reductions and air quality benefits of the options. Approximate 

health benefits, implementation and enforcement feasibility issues could also be stated. 

3. A detailed assessment phase: A small number of preferred options are taken forward from 

the scoping phase and a full analysis of each is done. A high level of quantitative detail is possible 

depending on the traffic and stakeholder data available. 

 

Detailed Assessment Phase: 

 

The detailed phase includes the following work programme: 

 

1. Cost-effectiveness analyses of those LEZ options.  This will rely on Marginal Abatement 

Cost Curves to determine the impact of the LEZ options.  The Cost Curve requires local emissions 

data, based on local traffic count and composition data. Combining these data will produce the cost-

effectiveness results which will allow the options to be ranked in terms of their cost-effectiveness. 

2.  Health impact assessment (HIA) focussed on the benefits associated with reduced PM10 

and NOx emissions due to the LEZ option. Strengthening the public awareness of the impact of poor 

air quality on health is important to eliminate the implementation barriers to transport solutions.  In 

some cases the relationship between exposure to emissions and the negative health response has 

been characterised with some confidence . These include chronic exposure to PM10 and acute 

effects (hospitalisations or premature deaths) from exposure to PM10. 

3. An environmental assessment incorporating the HIA and identifying other potential 

environmental benefits or impacts associated with the LEZ options, particularly those related to 

climate change 

Timescales: 

 

• Initial kick off meeting will take place within 2 weeks of contract award 

• Consultation workshops and stakeholder meetings for the inception and scoping phase will 

take place within 2 months 

• Emission inventory compilation will commence within 1 month of contract award and will 

be completed within 3 months from the receipt of all appropriate local data 

• A report will be produced providing details of the methods and outcomes of the inception 

and scoping phases  within 4 months of contract award 

• The detailed phase including the finalization of the emissions inventory and the air quality 

and economic, health and environmental assessment of the options will be completed within 10 

months 

• A draft report, setting out the evidence base, to be complete within 12 months  

 

10



Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 – Application Form  

 

4 

 

5. What are the key benefits and outputs of the proposed project?  

 

  
Please provide details of the key benefits and outputs of the proposed project including those 

benefits to the local authority / authorities and others. Letters of support from third parties 

evidencing the wider benefits of the project should be provided where possible  

 

Please detail wherever possible the potential reductions in levels/emissions of the pollutant of 

interest that may be anticipated as a result of the proposed project, how the project may enable 

the local authority to make an evidence-based decision to implement measures or not, and/or how 

the project will enable successful cooperation and knowledge transfer between local authorities to 

tackle pollution issues. Please detail whether or not the project will generate any intellectual 

property. (300 words or less) 

  

 

 

 

 

6. Please detail how the proposed project will contribute to national efforts to achieve compliance with the Air 

Quality Objectives and EU limit values.  

 

  
Please provide details of how this project could benefit efforts to tackle air quality issues across the 

country and how it could help tackle other environmental issues such as the emission of 

greenhouse gases and noise. (200 words or less) 

  

 

 

 

 

7. Detail any previous work carried out in this area that the work will build upon. 

  

  
Please provide details of any previous work, such as previous projects, reports, which have been 

used in the planning of this project, and detail how these earlier findings will be expanded upon in 

this project. Applications will not be penalised if there is no earlier work to reference. (200 words 

or less) 

  

 

The key benefit of this project is to provide the evidence base for local decision makers.  
Measures to be considered will include the introduction of electric vehicles, car share 
schemes, HGV re-routing and the control of buses.  These are all potentially feasible in 
Maidstone but the impact of their introduction on emissions requires quantifying, along with 
the health impacts and cost and benefits in monetary terms.  Such robust evidence based 
on local data is necessary to decide on the most cost effective options to move forward into 
the realms of policy setting.  Data availability to support such policy setting is limited at the 
local authority level, and this project may be of interest to our neighbouring and authorities 
in Kent.   

 

The NO2 Limit Value is exceeded within Maidstone and while the LEZ will go some way to meet this, 

this project will consider the evidence of the impact of measures targeted much more widely than 

buses and HGVs and will determine, following implementation, the likely date of Limit Value 

compliance.  This study will take account of local traffic composition and profiles which is necessary 

to gain an accurate view of the potential benefits and emissions reductions likely from an LEZ.   

 

11



Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 – Application Form  

 

5 

 

 

 

 

8. How will implementation of the project be monitored, success measured and the project evaluated? 

 

  
Please provide outline details of the selected success criteria for the proposed project and 

preliminary thoughts on how these will be monitored and the project evaluated. (200 words or 

less) 

  

 

 

 

 

9. How will any findings be disseminated for the benefit of other local authorities? 

 

  
Please provide details on how the findings of this project will be distributed. For example, will a 

report or guidance note be produced? Will the results be presented at air quality working groups 

or similar organisations? Information on a website etc. (200 words or less) 

  

Sustainable tranport has been identified in the Maidstone Sustainable Community Strategy and the 

Strategic Plan as vital to deliver the economic growth targeted in the developing Core Strategy. 

Detailed traffic modelling using Visum has been carried out for growth options identified in the 

developing LDF, which is due to go to public consultation in July 2011. The model predicts 

considerable traffic pressure both short, medium and long term on all 6 hotspots, especially 2 key 

hotpost areas (Lower Stone Street and the Wheatsheaf junction). In the two key hotspots, a  

continuous nox monitoring site and a detailed emission inventory are being set up (Sept 2011) to 

investigate these areas for exceedence of the hourly NO2 objective.  All this modelling and 

monitoring work will add detailed quantitative evidence to the report. 

 

The Maidstone BC is an active member of the Low Emission Strategies Partnership and is currently 

engaged with County on developing a travel planning partnership called New Ways 2 Work which 

also includes working with the South East Carbon Hub. This work shows the Borough's commitment 

to promoting emissions reduction to business and local residence and will be key to supporting the 

measures proposed in the final report. 

 

The Council plans to monitor the project against set milestones and deliverables within the 

specification to tender, which will form part of a contract with the successful consultant.  Key 

deliverables will be effective engagement with transport and planning professionals together with 

wider sustainable and environmental professionals.  Measures will be quantified for their emission 

reduction potential and their costs/benefits.  As the measures are implemented, their impact will be 

monitored using appropriate activity data and emission calculations and by pollutant concentration 

measurements. Targets and indicators will be set such as traffic count at specified locations, traffic 

and fleet composition including Euro Compliance for NOx and PM10.   Evaluation will take place 

annually during the reporting process to defra, which will include the progress made towards 

delivery of the Limit Value in Maidstone 

 

12



Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 – Application Form  

 

6 

 

 

 

 

 

Section 3: Financial Information 

 

  
Please see http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/air/air-quality/laqm/grants/ for 

information and details on other potential funding streams for air quality management. 

  

 

10. Please answer the following questions: 

 

a. Could the proposed project be financed through Section 106 agreements relating to planned 

developments? 

 

Yes   No   Don’t Know  

 

 

b. Could the proposed project be financed through the Community Infrastructure Levy relating to 

planned developments? 

 

Yes   No   Don’t Know  

 

 

c. For Authorities outside of London, could the proposed project be financed through use of the 

Local Sustainable Transport Fund? 

 

Yes   No   Don’t Know  

 

 

If “yes” for a, b or c please provide details on what has been explored, whether these have been successful, what 

is currently being explored or is awaiting decision and any plans you have for any (further) investigation 

of these funding routes. (100 words or less) 

Maidstone Borough Council is a member of the Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership, 
which was formed in 1992. The major aims and objectives of the Partnership are to: 
• Facilitate a co-ordinated approach through Kent and Medway for the Local Air 
Quality Management obligations placed on local authorities under the Environment Act 
1995. 
• Compile, update, and maintain an Emissions Inventory of air pollution sources in 
and around Kent, to assist with the LAQM process. 
• Comment on and influence the economic, planning and transport policies within the 
county so that air quality issues are properly considered and addressed. 
• Gain an understanding of the health implications associated with poor air quality 
and the threat it poses to the health of Kent and Medway's communities. 
• To promote an awareness of air quality issues by working with national agencies, 
neighbouring authorities, and European partners and to participate in joint initiatives to 
further the knowledge and understanding of air quality issues. 
• Liaise with DEFRA and Government bodies to assist with the implementation of the 
National Air Quality Strategy. 
 
Maidstone will also continue its active involvement and support of the Low Emissions 
Strategies (LES) Partnership and Low Emissions Strategy promotion. 
The partnership comprises a Peer Group of 15 local authorities across England working 
together to support local implementation of LES.  We would be happy to present our 
findings of this project at EPUK, IAPSC, LES meetings and others where we are invited.  In 
particular, we would seek to present our work to the Kent and Medway Air Quality 
Partnership a GovToday Sustainable Transport and/or Local Transport Today event  and 
any other relevant health/air quality/climate change local or national event. 

 

13



Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 – Application Form  

 

7 

 

 

 

 

d. Please provide details of any other public funding awarded for the proposed project (50 words or 

less)  

 

 

e. Please provide details of any other public funding sought for the proposed project and the extent 

to which the project is reliant on this funding. 50 words or less)  

 

 

 

f. Please provide details of any third party contributions, either financial or through support, 

available for the proposed project.  

 

  
For example, will the project be supported by any private sector companies, or research bodies? 

Please provide a figure in £ for the total third party funding applicable to or required for the 

delivery of the project. Please outline any conditions attached to this funding. (200 words or less) 

  

 

 

 

g. Please confirm the planned financial contribution by the local authority / authorities to the project 

and the proportion of the total. Where more than one local authority is contributing please 

provide a breakdown of the total costs by local authority. 

      

 

No other funding provided 

 

None 

 

No 

 

14



Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 – Application Form  

 

8 

 

 

 

 

11. Please identify the total financial support sought for the proposed project, breakdown of this figure into 

categories and work packages and information on how has this been calculated.  

 

 Please note there will not be a chance to later revise any amounts requested here and Defra may 

decide not to award the full level of grant funding you request. 

 

Breakdown: please breakdown the total cost into the categories below.  In addition, if the project 

has milestones or discrete packages please describe how the total cost is split between these 

packages, % figures or financial breakdown would be useful. Breaking your work into work 

packages can help our assessors in understanding and awarding funding which will ensure the 

success of the project.  

Calculation: For example, have quotes been sought or have man hours been estimated for specific 

elements of the project? Please do not attach commercial in confidence quotes or name 

contractors.  

 

Please note that where you seek to procure the supply of any goods, works or services from a third 

party you shall ensure that procurement complies in all material aspects with all relevant European 

and UK Legislation on public procurement, including without limitation the Public Contracts 

Regulations 2006. Further information on this is included in the Grant Agreement.  

 

The amount of grant requested should be made of the basis that the amount requested from the 

Authority takes account of all VAT liabilities and you shall not charge VAT on any expenses which 

are not chargeable to VAT. 

  

£0 total cost 

% 0  of total 

 

Breakdown (if multiple authorities) 

0 

 

 

 

Equipment:   £0 

Labour:   £37000 

Consumables:  £3000 

Other:  £0 

 

Total:   £40000 

 

 

If the project has milestones or discrete work packages please provide information on the split of 

these packages below (50 words or less) 

 

Inception Phase - 15% (£6000) 
Scoping Phase - 25% (£10000) 
Detailed Phase - 60% (£24000) 

 

 

Information relating to how the total has been calculated (50 words or less).  

The information provided is based on a consultant quote and local LAQM evidence, most 
recently the 2011 Annual Progress Report 

 

 

 

15



Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 – Application Form  

 

9 

 

 

 

 

Signature of Officer at the local authority 

 

 

Name of local authority 

 

 

Date 

 

 

Please Note: The Deadline for Submission of Grant Applications is 17
th

 June 2011.  

Please return to air.quality@defra.gsi.gov.uk  

 

John Newington 

 

Maidstone Borough Council 
 

17
th
 June 2011 

 

16



DEFRA LOCAL AUTHORITY AIR QUALITY GRANT 

2011/2012 – PROJECT PLAN  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Form Completed by: John Newington 

Local Authority (or other): Maidstone Borough Council 

Contacts:   01622 602389 johnnewington@maidstone.gov.uk 

Project Title  Low Emission Zone/Scheme Feasibility Study.  

Project Reference 1522011 
 

 

  

Prior to initiation of the project for which the grant has been awarded a detailed 

Project Plan will need to be completed by the lead local authority and submitted 

to and approved by Defra. Any charts, diagrams or maps required in the Project 

Plan should be referred to in the main text and included as Appendices. The main 

text of the Project Plan should not be greater than 13 pages in length. Text limits 

for individual sections are shown in brackets. 

  

 

17



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  2 

 

Section 1: The Project Team 

  
Please state clearly who the lead contact is for the project. Where the application is for a cluster 

or group of authorities, also provide details of the other authorities in the group. Details of any 

other partners (such as consultancies, academic institutions and private companies) should also 

be provided. You do not need to name contractors actually working on the project as we do not 

expect you to have tendered the work yet. Please state clearly the body undertaking the project 

management role (if different from the lead contact) and clearly define the role of the delivery 

team. (Maximum 1 page) 

  

The lead contact for the project is John Newington, Senior Pollution Control Officer in Maidstone 

Borough Council's Pollution Control Team. The Project Team consists of the Pollution Control 

Section of Environmental Health at Maidstone Borough Council. 

 

The delivery team will include all members of the Air Quality and Transport Steering Group which 

includes representatives from: 

 

Maidstone Borough Council (MBC) Senior Management; 

MBC Cabinet Member for the Environment; 

MBC Spatial Planning; 

MBC Climate Change Officer; 

MBC Economic Development; 

Kent County Council  Highways and Transportation; 

Kent County Council Transport Planners; 

Kent County Council Sustainable Transport Team; 

Highways Agency;  

Kent County Council Public Health Department. 

 

The delivery team, select external witnesses and commercial stakeholders not represented in the 

steering committee will be essential in the delivery of the Inception and Scoping Phase of the work. 

Details can be found in section 3. 

18



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  3 

Section 2: The Project Overview 

 

  
Please provide an overview of the work that the project will involve. This section should include 

the following information: 

 

• The aims and objectives of the project – why is this project being undertaken and what 

you hope to achieve. Use the information in question 3 of the application form and 

describe how the aims relate to relevant air quality action plans.  

• Any potential risks to the success of the project and how these will be mitigated and 

managed.  

(Maximum 2 pages) 

 

Introduction: 

 

The urban area of Maidstone was declared an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 2010 

following the confirmation of five areas that exceeded the annual NO2 mean. In the 2011 Annual 

Progress Report a further site (within the AQMA) was confirmed through monitoring bringing the 

total to 6 hotposts. 

 

Despite emission reduction efforts, NO2 concentrations remain above the EU Limit Value in many 

parts of the borough. To address this, the Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) outlines a range of 

measures that will be investigated. Work is already being undertaken to quantify the included 

measures to show what air quality benefits could be realised. 

 

The Council has been proactive in the Local Authority Low Emission Partnership and is working 

closely with MBC Spatial Planning and KCC Highways and Transportation teams in developing the 

Local Development Framework (LDF) and supporting  Integrated Transport Strategy and Car Parking 

Strategy, as these are the means through which it is possible that some funding  may be sought from 

the Local Transport Plan 3 (LTP3) and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 

 

Aims and Objectives of Project: 

 

The aim of this project is to provide an evidence base for local decision makers. It will build on the 

above work and focus more specifically on the potential of low emission schemes and low emission 

zones in the most polluted hotspots in Maidstone. It is envisaged that the key areas of focus  will be 

in addressing bus/taxi emissions in the High Street as well as the general volume of traffic: 

particularly HGVs on the A229 primary route that runs north to south through the middle of the 

town. Measures to be considered could include the introduction of electric vehicles, car share 

schemes, travel planning, HGV re-routing and the control of buses. These are all feasible in 

Maidstone but the impact of their introduction on emissions requires quantifying, along with the 

health impacts and cost and benefits in monetary terms. The Inception (WP1)and Scoping phases 

(WP2) of the project  will be used to define what potential schemes could be implemented  (given 

the vast number and scope of different types of low emission zones and low emission schemes). 

 

The project would then look in more quantitative detail at air quality and cost benefit analyses 

(WP3) and make comparisons of the identified low emission zones/schemes to assess which would 

be more or less effective, or potentially be complementary, to other transport measures within the 

LDF and Integrated Transport Strategy (Measure 1 of the Maidstone Air Quality Action Plan). Such 

robust evidence based on local data is necessary to decide on the most cost effective options to 

move forward into the realms of policy setting. Data availability to support such policy setting and to 

overcome local economic barriers is limited at the local authority level and as such this project may 

be of interest to our neighbouring authorities in Kent. 

 

 

 

19



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  4 

Section 2 - The Project Overview - Continued 

The outcomes of this project directly delivers against Measure 1 of the AQAP which seeks to 

investigate the feasibility of low emission zones and schemes in Maidstone. It will also provide a 

robust evidence base to assist policy makers and decision makers. It is hoped that this project can be 

used to support the developing Integrated Transport Strategy (in development for the Core 

Strategy(CS)) on its route towards adoption in the Spring 2013. 

 

Risks to Project: 

 

The main risk to this project revolves around the exclusion of relevant stakeholders and insufficiant 

scoping of the project. This would mean that the schemes investigated may not reflect the local 

economic, political and commercial situation, which would make them impractical to implement. 

This risk will be addressed through thorough and careful inception and scoping phases (WP1 & 2), 

with full engagement with relevant stakeholders including  MBC officers and Members. MBC has a 

good record of engagement as evidenced by the work on the Health Impact Assessment of the AQAP 

and the work of the long standing  Air Quality Steering Group (part of the delivery team) which is 

always well attended. 

 

The project will be delivered ensuring that the three corporate objectives of MBC are considered at 

every stage.   

20



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  5 

Section 3 - The Project in Detail 

 

  
Please provide more detail on the project by providing the following information: 

• Define work packages – break the project up into clearly numbered work-packages based 

on the distinct phases of work within the project.  Give each work package a number and 

title. 

• Describe work packages – provide a summary of the work to be undertaken in each work 

package and link it back to the aims and objectives.  Please identify where work packages 

are linked to the outcomes of other work packages 

• Outputs of work package - Identify the outputs from each work package and any key 

project milestones. NB work packages do not have to be consecutive and can overlap. 

• Tasks: further break down the work packages into tasks to clearly identify the work to be 

undertaken to achieve the aims and objectives.  State what the task will involve, and 

identify who will carry out each task.  

 

Please use up to a maximum of 4 pages to describe the project in detail using work packages. 

 

The information should be structured as follows: 

WP1 

Title 

 

 

Summary of work package WP1: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Outputs and Key Milestones for work package WP1 

• (Bulleted List) 

• etc 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tasks in WP1 and who will carry out each task 

• Task 1 –  

• Task 2 – 

• etc 

 

 

 

 

 

Repeat this information for each task. 

 

(maximum 4 pages) 

 

21



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  6 

Section 3 - The Project in Detail – Continued 

22



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  7 

WP1: Inception Phase 

 

Summary of Work Package 

 

A short consultation period with the project delivery team, air quality and transport steering group 

and other identified stakeholders , including commercial transport operators and local businesses, 

will be carried out. This will provide an understanding of stakeholder emphasis or preference for 

either low emission zones or schemes and enable the successful consultant to share their  

experience and knowledge to help steer later phases of work.  

 

Stakeholder consultation will continue throughout. 

 

Outputs and Key Milestones of WP1 

 

1) Inception Stakeholder Event 

2) Minutes of Inception Stakeholder event 

3) Identification of schemes to be taken through to WP2 

 

Tasks in WP1 and who will carry them out 

 

1) Identify stakeholders  - Project delivery team and successful air quality consultant. 

2) Set up and run stakeholder Inception event - successful consultant (all stakeholders) held at 

MBC. 

3) Write up minutes of stakeholder event - Consultant and delivery team. 

3) Produce list of potential low emission schemes for progression to Scoping Phase - Consultant & 

Project Lead 

 

WP2: Scoping Phase 

 

Summary of Work Package 

 

Work to assess the potential benefits of several options and to prioritise them with the steering 

group. At this stage the use of screening tools will be appropriate and the priority is to quantify the 

potential emissions reductions and air quality benefits of the options, as well as the  approximate 

health benefit and implementation and enforcement feasibility issues. Measures to be considered 

could include the introduction of low emission zones or schemes, electric vehicles, car share 

schemes, travel planning, HGV re-routing and the management of bus emissions. 

 

Outputs and Key Milestones of WP2 

 

1) Stakeholder Scoping Event 

2) Report detailing the progress of schemes identified at inception phase.  

3) Identification of data requirements to carry out detailed assessment WP3. This will include the 

identification of supplemental traffic data/modelling that may be required. 

4) Report will be produced providing details of the methods and outcomes of the Inception and 

Scoping phases (within 4 months of contract award). 

 

Tasks in WP2 and who will carry them out 

 

1) Stakeholder Scoping Event - Project  team and successful air quality consultant. Held at MBC 

2) Minutes of Stakeholder Scoping Event - Consultant & delivery team 

2) Screening assessment - Consultant 

3) Identification of missing data required for the  detailed assessment Phase (WP3)- Consultant & 

KCC Transport Planner 

4) Instigation of supplemental traffic data acquisition if required. Project Lead & KCC Transport 

Planner 

5) Write Inception/Scoping report - Consultant 

 

23



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  8 

Section 3 - The Project in Detail – Continued 

 

WP3  

Detailed Assessment 

 

Summary of Work Package 

 

A small number of preferred options will be taken forward from the Scoping phase and a full 

analysis of each carried out.  

 

A high level of quantitative detail is possible depending on the traffic and stakeholder data 

available. Where data is not available the Project Lead will work with the Consultant and KCC 

Transport Planners to, where possible, acquire the required modelling or surveys. Details of this 

cannot be provided at this time as it is dependent on WP1&2. 

 

The detailed assessment will include a) cost-effectiveness analyses of those LEZ options, b) Health 

impact assessment (HIA) focussed on the benefits associated with reduced PM10 and NOx 

emissions due to the LEZ option and c) an environmental assessment incorporating the HIA and 

identifying other potential environmental benefits or impacts associated with the LEZ options, 

particularly those related to climate change.  

 

Outputs and Key Milestones of WP2 

 

1) Final Report detailing the project work which provides the evidence base for local decision 

makers.  

2) The report will provide detailed cost benefit analysis of proposed schemes 

3) The report to provide recommendations that will assist in implementing the assessed schemes. 

4) Stakeholder Project Closure Event to disseminate the findings of the report to stakeholders.  

 

Tasks in WP3 and who will carry them out 

 

1) Data acquisition - Consultant 

2) Supplemental data acquisiation - Project lead & KCC Transport Planners 

3) Quantitiative assessment of schemes - Consultant 

4) Final report - Consultant 

5) Stakeholder Closure Presentation - Consultant & Project Lead (to be held at MBC Offices). 

6) Stakeholder Project Assessment Questionaire - Consultant & Project Lead. 

 

 

24



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  9 

Section 3 - The Project in Detail – Continued 

 

Please enter your text here (page 3 of a maximum 4 pages) 

25



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  10 

Section 3 - The Project in Detail – Continued 

 

Please enter your text here (page 4 of a maximum 4 pages) 

26



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  11 

Section 4: Timescales/Milestones 

 

  
Please detail the timescale of the project. This section must include the following information:  

 

• Anticipated project start date 

• Anticipated project completion date 

• Duration (and start and end dates) of each work package. NB work packages may overlap.  

• Anticipated dates for Key Milestones to be passed within the work packages 

• A spend profile for project showing cumulative spend at the following dates: 31/12/2011, 

31/03/2012, 30/06/2012 and 30/09/2012 and every 3 months until the project end date.  

 

(Maximum 1 Page) 

  

 

The project will be put out to tender to air quality consultants in accordance with Council's 

procurement policy and the appointment confirmed within three months of receipt of agreement. 

 

Project will start in the early part of December 2011. 

 

1) Initial kick off meeting will take place within 2 weeks of contract award 

2) Consultation workshops and stakeholder meetings for the inception (WP1)and scoping phase 

(WP2) will take place within 3 months. 

3) Outputs of WP1 completed by 2 months 

4) Output of WP2 completed by 4 months 

5) The detailed phase including the finalization of emissions inventory and the air quality and 

economic, health and environmental assessment of the options will be completed within 10 months 

6) A draft report, setting out the evidence base, to be complete within 12 months 

 

Project Completion - November 2012 

 

 

Spend Profile dates: 

31/12/2011 

31/03/2012 

30/06/2012 

30/09/2012 

31/12/2012 

 

 

27



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  12 

  

Section 5: Knowledge Transfer 

 

 

  
Please provide details on how the findings of this project will be disseminated. This section must 

include the following information: 

 

• The intended dissemination activity (eg. report, presentation, tools, website) 

• The intended audience(s) 

• The purpose of the activity 

• The timing of the activity (eg. after a particular milestone, upon completion of project) 

 

(Maximum 1 page) 

  

A summary of the report will be available on the Maidstone Borough Council Air Quality Web pages 

along with the full report. It will also be presented to the Joint transportation Board which involves 

both County and District members. 

 

The work will be reported through presentations at National and Local events, for example: 

 

IAPSC 

Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership 

London Air Quality Network Event 

 

All the above knowledge transfer activities will take place once the project is completed, although 

this does not preclude inclusion of the project in seminars as it develops. 

 

  

28



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  13 

Section 6: Intellectual Property 

 

  
Please describe how the intellectual property rights for project have been considered in order to 

ensure the terms and conditions of the grant award are met.  Data, reports, tools, websites or 

other information or deliverables must be considered in terms of intellectual property including 

any third party owners of existing Intellectual Property rights.  Please refer to Section 14 of the 

grant agreement terms and conditions.  

 

(Maximum 1 page) 

 

 

 

As far as we are aware, all work packages can be completed using publically available software and 

data. All reports will be published and be publically available once complete at the end of the 

project.  

 

Data collection work that may be required in WP2 would only be agreed to, if it can be made 

publically available at the end of the project. 

 

Details of Consultant proposals will not be available until after the tendering process but it is not 

envisaged that any consultant would require Intellectual Property Rights to complete the work. 

However, any issues in relation to these Terms and Conditions brought forward by external partners 

will be raised with Defra for clarification and resolution. 

29



2010/2011 AIR QUALITY GRANT PROJECT PLAN  14 

Section 7: Success Criteria 

 

  
Please provide details on the monitoring of the project, what the success criteria for the project 

are, and how these criteria will be measured. This section must include the following information: 

 

• How the project status will be monitored 

• Which aspect will be monitored 

• The timing of monitoring 

• Selected success criteria for the project 

• How and when these will be measured 

• How overall success will be judged in a measurable way against the initial aims and 

objectives.  

 

(Maximum 1 page) 

  

 

The status of the project will be monitored through the adherence of the successful consultant to 

the proposed timeline and production of relevant milestones, as well as through formal 

communication between the Project Lead  and the confirmed consultant. These will occur at least 

monthly for the duration of the project. 

 

The Council plans to monitor the project against the set milestones and key deliverables within the 

specification to tender, which will form part of a contract with the successful consultant. The 

timescale s for monitoring are set out in section 3. 

 

One of the key deliverables for Maidstone Borough Council is the effective engagement with 

transport and planning professionals together with wider sustainable and environmental 

professionals. The success of this deliverable will be assessed via questionaire at the project closure 

event.  

 

The final report will be used to adapt the AQAPand provide robust data to assist the Integrated 

Transport Strategy (being written in support of the Core Strategy). The report will provide evidence 

to prioritise low emission schemes in Maidstone that deliver emission reductions from both the LTP3 

and Integrated Transport Strategy.  

 

This work is a key starting block towards achieving the longer term aim of setting up practical 

measures to reduce emissions using all relevant and available strategies, partnerships and potential 

funding sources. The success of the project can be assessed annually by its reference and use in 

those ongoing discussions. 

 

30



Eko Deinne 

Area 5F, Ergon House 
Horseferry Road 
London SW1P  2AL 
 
Telephone 020 7238 1677 
Email air.quality@defra.gsi.gov.uk 
 
Website www.defra.gov.uk 

 

 
John Newington 
Maidstone Borough Council 
King Street 
Maidstone  
Kent 
ME15 6JQ 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
    Date:   17 August 2011   

 
Dear Mr Newington 
 
AIR QUALITY GRANT 2011/12 

Application Ref Number:   1522011 
 
Thank you for your Air Quality Grant application for capital expenditure to support air quality action 
planning under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995. This grant is made under the Air Quality 
Grant Determination 2011/12: No 31/1939 1.  
 
The total amount of applications has significantly exceeded the Department’s provision. 
Applications have been assessed against the priorities and criteria set out on the website2 and 
awards made on the basis of how highly they scored.  
 

Following evaluation of your bid, I am pleased to be able to inform you that it is the Department’s 
intention to award your authority an air quality grant in 2011/12 of £40,000.  
 

• Ref No: 1522011 – fully funded – original bid was for £40,000. 
 

The award of this grant is subject to Defra receiving and approving a completed Project Plan using 
the template provided at Annex B to this letter. Defra reserve the right if your Project Plan is not 
approved, to decline the funding. In addition the air quality grant is subject to terms and 
conditions3. These terms and conditions together with the completed Project Plan will form a 
completed Grant Agreement to be signed by both parties.  
 
I would be grateful for confirmation by email, by noon on 12 September 2011 that your authority 
accepts the amount of grant to be awarded and the terms and conditions which apply, and include 
with your confirmation the completed Project Plan in electronic format. Further information on the 
process and timetable is available in Annex A to this letter.  
 

                                            
 
1 http://archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/air/airquality/local/documents/local-auth-grant-

determination.pdf  
2 http://www.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/air/airquality/local/aqgrant/index.htm     
3
 http://archive.defra.gov.uk/environment/quality/air/airquality/local/documents/local-auth-grant-agreement.pdf .  

31



 
 
 
 
 
Once we have received and countersigned the grant agreement containing an approved Project 
Plan we will make arrangements to pay the grant to your authority’s bank account. If your authority 
requires payment of the grant to a particular account please provide full bank account details in 
your letter confirming your authority’s acceptance of the grant offer.   
 
Should you no longer wish to receive the grant or should there be any issues with the terms and 
conditions, please contact us within 10 days of receipt of this letter. Should you have any 
questions about the proposed scope of the project, for example if we have not been able to award 
you the full funding for your proposed project, please get in touch.  
 
 
 

 

Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Eko Deinne 
Atmosphere and Local Environment 
 

32



 
 
 
 
 
Annex A: Process Information  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

33



 
 
 
 
 
Annex B 

See separate attachment, Project Plan template.  

34



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air 
Quality Grant Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Department for Environment Food and Rural 

Affairs 
 

Local Authority Air Quality Grant Programme 2011/12  
 
 
 

Grant Agreement 
 
 
 
 
 
 

35



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

2 

 

 

GRANT OFFER ACCEPTANCE FORM     
[insert project name] 
Acceptance of grant offer  

We [insert here local authority/ies name] have read and understand this offer and all the terms and 
conditions of this offer, and we hereby formally accept.   
 
Signed on behalf of the Local Authority(ies)  ..............................…...... 
Position   ............................................ 
Name  ......................….............. 
Date  ....................................... 
 
Signed on behalf of the Authority  ............................................. 
Name  ............................................ 

Position   ............................................ 

Date  ............................................ 

 

FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY: 

I certify that I am satisfied with plans for the projects and payment should be made against the: 
  

 Amount Processed 

[insert name]   

 
Name of official:     Date: 

 
 

  

                  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

36



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

3 

 

 

 

Table of Contents   
1. Introduction  

2. Definitions and Interpretation  

3. Purpose of Grant  

4. Payment of Grant  

5. Use of Grant  

6. Monitoring and Reporting  

7. Accounts and Records  

8. Financial Irregularity 

9. Conflict of Interest  

10. Withholding, suspending and repayment of Grant  

11. Confidentiality  

12. Freedom of Information  

13. Data Protection  

14. Intellectual Property Rights  

15. Warranties  

16. Insurance and Indemnity  

17. Procurement and State Aids 

18. Publicity  

19. Environmental Requirements  

20. General  

21. Duration  

22. Termination   

23. Assignment  

24. Waiver  

25. Notices  

26. Dispute resolution  

27. No partnership or agency  

28. Joint and several liability  

29. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999  

30. Governing law 

Schedules  

37



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

4 

 

1. The Approved Project  

2. Payment Schedule  

3. Breakdown of Grant 

 
 

GRANT TERMS AND CONDITIONS  
 
THIS AGREEMENT IS MADE ON THE [               ] DAY OF [                        ] 2011  
 
BETWEEN: 
 
(1)  THE SECRETARY OF STATE FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF THE ENVIRONMENT, FOOD 

AND RURAL AFFAIRS of Nobel House, 17 Smith Square, London, SW1P 3JR (thereinafter 
referred to as “the Authority”); and  

(2)  [insert full name of grant recipient] of [insert full address but if registered company please 
insert the following – (registered in England and Wales under number [insert company 
number]) whose registered office is situated at [         ] (the “Grant Recipient”)  

 

WHEREAS the Authority has agreed to provide the Grant to the Grant Recipient for the Approved 

Project and upon the terms and conditions set out below: 

 

NOW IT IS HEREBY AGREED as follows: 

 
1. INTRODUCTION  
1.1 This Agreement sets out the terms and conditions on which the Grant is made by the 

Authority to the Grant Recipient. 
1.2 This Agreement may be amended from time to time only by the written agreement of both 

parties. 
 
2.  DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION  
2.1 In this Agreement the following terms shall have the following meanings: 

“Agreement” means this written agreement between the Authority and the Grant Recipient 
consisting of these clause and any attached schedules.  
“Approved Project” means the project described in Schedule 1.  
“Commencement Date” means [insert start date]. 
“Confidential Information” means all personal data and sensitive personal data within the 
meaning of the DPA and any information, however it is conveyed, that relates to the business, 
affairs, developments, trade secrets, Know-How, personnel, and suppliers of the Authority or 
the Grant Recipient (as the case may be), including all Intellectual Property Rights, together 
with all information derived from any of the above, and any other information clearly 
designated as being confidential (whether or not it is marked “confidential”) or which ought 
reasonably be considered to be confidential. 
 “DPA” means the Data Protection Act 1998 and any subordinate legislation made under that 
Act from time to time together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the 
Information Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such legislation. 
“EIR” means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 (SI 2004/3391) and any 
guidance and/or codes of practice issued by the Information Commissioner or relevant 
government department in relation to such regulations. 
“Financial Irregularity” means any fraud or other impropriety, mismanagement or use of the 
Grant for purposes other than an Approved Project. 

 “FOIA” means the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and any subordinate legislation made 
under that Act from time to time together with any guidance and/or codes of practice issued 
by the Information Commissioner or relevant government department in relation to such 
legislation. 

38



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

5 

 

“Governing Body” means the governing body of the Grant Recipient including its directors or 
trustees. 
“Grant” means the sum of £ [insert amount] to be paid to the Grant Recipient in accordance 
with this Agreement. 
“Grant Period” means the period for which the Grant is awarded starting on the 
Commencement Date and ending on [insert date by which the grant must be spent ie 
proposed project end date as to be set out in Schedule 1]. 
“HMG Security Policy Framework” means the Cabinet Office Security Policy Framework 
(available from the Cabinet Office Security Policy Division) as updated from time to time. 
“Intellectual Property Rights” means patents, utility models, inventions, trademarks, service 
copyrights and design rights (whether registerable or otherwise), applications for any of the 
foregoing, copyright, database rights, domain names, plant variety rights, Know-How, trade or 
business names, moral rights and other similar rights or obligations whether registerable or 
not in any country (including but not limited to the United Kingdom) and the right to sue for 
passing off.  
“Know-How” means information, data, know-how or experience whether patentable or not and 
including but not limited to any technical and commercial information relating to research, 
design, development, manufacture, use or sale. 

 Prohibited Act: means: 
 (a) offering, giving or agreeing to give to any servant of the Authority any gift or consideration 
of any kind as an inducement or reward for: 

(i) doing or not doing (or for having done or not having done) any act in relation to the 
obtaining or performance of this Agreement or any other contract with the Authority; 
or 
(ii) showing or not showing favour or disfavour to any person in relation to this 
Agreement or any other contract with the Authority; 

(b) entering into this Agreement or any other contract with the Authority where a commission 
has been paid or has been agreed to be paid by the Grant Recipient or on its behalf, or to its 
knowledge, unless before the relevant contract is entered into particulars of any such 
commission and of the terms and conditions of any such contract for the payment thereof 
have been disclosed in writing to the Authority; 
(c) committing any offence: 

(i) under the Prevention of Corruption Acts 1889 to 1916; 
(ii) under legislation creating offences in respect of fraudulent acts; or 
(iii) at common law in respect of fraudulent acts in relation to this Agreement or any 
other contract with the Authority; or 

(d) defrauding or attempting to defraud or conspiring to defraud the Authority. 
“Project Plan” means a detailed plan showing the activities to be undertaken on the Approved 
Project including but not limited to information on the timing of in terms of start and end dates 
within the Grant Period, the milestones and due dates for any deliverables, detail on the 
measurement and monitoring of the success of the Approved Project and plans for 
dissemination of the outputs and findings.  
“Sound Operational Principles” means adherence to any statutory, professional and sectoral 
guidance regarding the operation of an organisation including but not limited to structures for 
ensuring good governance, accountability and financial management. 
“Staff” means all persons employed by the Grant Recipient to perform its obligations under 
the Agreement together with the Grant Recipient’s servants, agents, suppliers and Sub-
Contractors used in the performance of its obligations under the Agreement 
“Sub–Contractor” means a third party directly or indirectly contracted to the Grant Recipient 
whose (irrespective of whether such person is an agent or company within the same group of 
companies as the Grant Recipient) services and/or goods are used by the Grant Recipient 
(either directly or indirectly) in connection with the provision of the Approved Project, and 
“Sub-Contract” shall be construed accordingly.. 

2.2 The headings are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of the 
Agreement.  

2.3 Reference to any legislative and statutory requirement or similar instrument shall be deemed 
to include reference to any subsequent amendment to them. 

39



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

6 

 

2.4 References to any person shall, as the context may require, be construed as a reference to 
any individual, firm, company, corporation, government department, agency or any 
association or partnership (whether or not having a separate legal personality). 

2.5 Unless the context requires otherwise, the singular shall include the plural and vice versa, and 
the masculine shall include the feminine and vice versa. 

 
3.  PURPOSE OF GRANT 
3.1  The Grant Recipient shall use the Grant only for the delivery of the Approved Project and in 

accordance with the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement. The Grant shall not be 
used for any other purpose without the prior written agreement of the Authority. 

3.2  The Grant Recipient shall not make any significant change to the Approved Project without 
the Authority’s prior written agreement. The Grant Recipient shall inform the Authority 
immediately of any likely delays of more than three (3) months to the Approved Project and of 
any significant changes to the scope of the Approved Project.  

3.3  Where the Grant Recipient intends to apply to a third party for other funding for the Approved 
Project, it will notify the Authority in advance of its intention to do so and, where such funding 
is obtained, it will provide the Authority with details of the amount and purpose of that funding. 
The Grant Recipient agrees and accepts that it shall not apply for duplicate funding in respect 
of any part of the Approved Project or any related administration costs that the Authority is 
funding in full under this Agreement. 

 
4.  PAYMENT OF GRANT 
4.1  Subject to clause 10, the Authority shall pay the Grant in full to the Grant Recipient in 

accordance with Schedule 3 once a Project Plan written by the Grant Recipient has been 
approved by the Authority, inserted into Schedule 1 of the Agreement and the Agreement has 
been signed. 

4.2  The amount of the Grant shall not be increased in the event of any overspend by the Grant 
Recipient in its delivery of the Approved Project. 

4.3  The Grant Recipient shall promptly repay to the Authority any money incorrectly paid to it 
either as a result of an administrative error or otherwise. This includes (without limitation) 
situations where either an incorrect sum of money has been paid or where Grant monies have 
been paid in error before all conditions attaching to the Grant have been complied with by the 
Grant Recipient. 

4.4 Onward payment of the Grant and the use of Sub-Contractors shall not relieve the Grant 
Recipient of any of its obligations under this Agreement, including the obligation to repay the 
Grant.   

4.5 The Grant offer has been made of the basis that the costs presented to the Authority take 
account of all VAT liabilities. If it is later found that the project costs increase because an error 
has been made about whether VAT can be recovered, the Authority shall be under no 
obligation to increase the Grant to pay any VAT liability of the Grant Recipient. 

 
4.6 The Grant Recipient shall not charge VAT on expenses which are not chargeable to VAT.  

 

4.7 The Grant Recipient shall submit a claim for payment of the Grant to the Authority for its 
approval, at such periods as are either specified in Schedule 3 or otherwise required by the 
Authority. Each and every claim for payment of the Grant submitted by the Grant Recipient to 
the Authority shall include all such records and information as the Authority may specify or, if 
not specified, all such records and information as the Authority may reasonable require 
including details and evidence of expenses incurred and programme of work undertaken, and 
such other information as are necessary to enable verify the information and the amounts 
referred to in the claim for payment. The Grant Recipient must include the relevant purchase 
order number on all invoices. 

 
 
5.  USE OF GRANT 
5.1  The Grant shall be used by the Grant Recipient for the delivery of the Approved Project in 

accordance with the agreed budget set out in Annex D. For the avoidance of doubt, the 

40



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

7 

 

amount of the Grant that the Grant Recipient may spend on any item of expenditure listed in 
column 1 of Annex D. shall not exceed the corresponding sum of money listed in column 2 
without the prior written agreement of the Authority. 

5.2  Where the Grant Recipient has obtained funding from a third party in relation to its delivery of 
the Approved Project (including without limitation funding for associated administration and 
staffing costs), the amount of such funding shall be included in the budget in Annex D 
together with a clear description of what that funding shall be used for. 

5.3  The Grant Recipient must ensure that the Grant is spent on the Approved Project and shall 
not use the Grant for expenditure on any of the following activities:   

a) Expenditure of a party political or exclusively religious nature; 
b) Expenditure commitments of the Grant Recipient entered into before the 

Commencement Date; 
c) VAT that is recoverable by or on behalf of the Grant Recipient or that which becomes 

recoverable during the Grant Period other than for timing mismatch between 
payment and recovery; 

d) Contingencies; 
e) Dividends declared; 
f) Depreciation and amortisation of assets to the extent that the costs of the assets 

have been funded by grant; 
g) Payment for unfunded pensions; 
h) Motoring and other fines; 
i) Late payment charges for credit or charge cards (unless incurred as a result of late 

reimbursement); 
j) Activities funded from other sources; 
k) Activities not set out in the Approved Project; 
l) Activities for which funding would more properly be provided by some other agency or 

department and in particular services that others have a statutory duty to provide; 
m) Expenditure supported from other sources to the extent that the combined Grant and 

other support total more than 100% of the Approved Project; 
n) Any liability arising out of negligence on the part of the Grant Recipient or its 

representatives, Sub-Contractors, and agents; 
o) Payments arising from a contractual commitment by single tender action with a 

former director of the Grant Recipient or former member of its staff without written 
approval from Defra; 

p) Any profit element. No profit, dividends, bonuses and/or any similar or equivalent 
benefit will be paid to the owners, members and directors of the Grant Recipient or 
any other organisation or persons; 

q) Interest charges; 
r) Criminal fines and damages imposed or awarded by courts; 
s) Corporation tax; 
t) Purchase of land or the purchase and/ or construction of buildings; 
u) Penalties/civil damages arising from civil/criminal legal proceedings taken against the 

Grant Recipient or civil proceedings started by the Grant Recipient, whether or not 
the Grant Recipient is successful or acquitted, even if the proceedings were in 
pursuance of, or in consequence of the Approved Project. 
 

5.4  The Grant Recipient shall not spend any part of the Grant on the delivery of the Approved 
Project after the Grant Period without prior written approval from the Authority. . 

5.5  Should any part of the Grant remain unspent at the end of the Grant Period, the Grant 
Recipient shall ensure that any unspent monies are returned to the Authority unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Authority.  

5.6  Any liabilities arising at the end of the Approved Project including any redundancy liabilities 
for staff employed by the Grant Recipient to deliver the Approved Project must be managed 
and paid for by the Grant Recipient using the Grant or other resources of the Grant Recipient. 
There will be no additional funding available from the Authority for this purpose. 

 
6. MONITORING AND REPORTING 
6.1  The Grant Recipient shall closely monitor the delivery and success of the Approved Project 

throughout the Grant Period to ensure that the aims and objectives of the Approved Project 
are being met and that this Agreement is being adhered to. 

41



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

8 

 

6.2  The Grant Recipient shall provide the Authority with a financial report and an operational 
report on its use of the Grant and delivery of the Approved Project when requested to do so 
by the Authority and within thirty (30) days of the request being made and in such formats as 
the Authority may reasonably require.  

6.3  Where the Grant Recipient has obtained funding from a third party for its delivery of part of 
the Approved Project, the Grant Recipient shall include the amount of such funding in its 
financial reports together with details of what that funding has been used for. 

6.4  The Grant Recipient shall on request provide the Authority with such further information, 
explanations and documents as the Authority may reasonably require in order for it to 
establish that the Grant has been used properly in accordance with this Agreement. 

6.5  The Grant Recipient shall permit any person authorised by the Authority such reasonable 
access to its employees, agents, premises, facilities and records, for the purpose of 
discussing, monitoring and evaluating the Grant Recipient's fulfilment of the conditions of this 
Agreement and shall, if so required, provide appropriate oral or written explanations from 
them. 

6.6  The Grant Recipient shall permit any person authorised by the Authority for the purpose to 
visit the Grant Recipient to monitor the delivery of the Approved Project.  

6.7  The Grant Recipient shall provide the Authority with a final report on completion of the Grant 
Period which shall confirm whether the Approved Project has been successfully and properly 
completed. The Grant Recipient should provide in the final report as requested by the 
Authority, details of the finances and work programme undertaken to evaluate and summarise 
the work undertaken on the Approved Project.  

 
7.  ACCOUNTS AND RECORDS 
7.1  The Grant Recipient shall keep separate, accurate and up-to-date accounts and records of 

the receipt and expenditure of the Grant monies received by it. 
7.2  The Grant Recipient shall keep all invoices, receipts, and accounts and any other relevant 

documents relating to the expenditure of the Grant for a period of at least six (6) years 
following receipt of any Grant monies to which they relate. The Authority shall have the right 
to review, at the Authority’s reasonable request, the Grant Recipient's accounts and records 
that relate to the expenditure of the Grant and shall have the right to take copies of such 
accounts and records. 

7.3  The Grant Recipient shall provide the Authority with a copy of its annual accounts within six 
(6) months (or such lesser period as the Authority may reasonably require) of the end of the 
relevant financial year in respect of each year in which the Grant is paid. 

7.4  The Grant Recipient shall comply and facilitate the Authority’s compliance with all statutory 
requirements as regards accounts, audit or examination of accounts, annual reports and 
annual returns applicable to itself and the Authority. 

 

8. FINANCIAL IRREGULARITY 

8.1 The Grant Recipient shall conduct its business in accordance with Sound Operational 
Principles and shall take any steps required by the Authority to ensure that any persons to 
whom it pays the Grant also operate on such terms.   

8.2 The Grant Recipient shall ensure that it has such procedures in place as are required by law 
to identify any Financial Irregularity or other impropriety in connection with the administration 
of the Grant. 

8.3 The Grant Recipient shall notify the Authority immediately of any actual or suspected 
Financial Irregularity (or any circumstances which are likely in the Grant Recipient's opinion to 
result in Financial Irregularity), and indicate the steps that are being taken to address this. 

 

9. CONFLICT OF INETREST  

42



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

9 

 

The Grant Recipient shall put adequate procedures in place to ensure that there is no actual 
or perceived risk of bias or other conflict of interest that might call into question: 

(a) the Grant Recipient’s eligibility to receive the Grant,  or 

(b) where the Grant Recipient is responsible for further distribution of the Grant to third 
parties, its impartiality when administering the Grant. 

 

 

10.  WITHHOLDING, SUSPENDING AND REPAYMENT OF GRANT 
10.1  The Authority’s intention is that the Grant will be paid to the Grant Recipient in full. However, 

without prejudice to the Authority’s other rights and remedies, the Authority may at its 
discretion reduce, withhold or suspend payment of the Grant and/or require repayment of all 
or part of the Grant if: 
(a)  the Grant Recipient uses the Grant for purposes other than those for which they have 

been awarded; 
(b)  the delivery of the Approved Project does not start within 3 months of the 

Commencement Date and the Grant Recipient has failed to provide the Authority  with 
a reasonable explanation for the delay; 

(c)  the Authority considers that the Grant Recipient has not made satisfactory progress 
with the delivery of the Approved Project; 

(d)  the Grant Recipient is, in the reasonable opinion of the Authority, delivering the 
Approved Project in a negligent manner; 

(e)  the Grant Recipient obtains duplicate funding from a third party for the Approved 
Project; 

(f)  the Grant Recipient obtains funding from a third party which, in the reasonable 
opinion of the Authority, undertakes activities that are likely to bring the reputation of 
the Approved Project and/or the Authority into disrepute; 

(g)  the Grant Recipient provides the Authority with any materially misleading or 
inaccurate information; 

(h)  the Grant Recipient commits or committed a Prohibited Act; 
(i)  the Grant Recipient incurs expenditure on activities that breach European state aid or 

public procurement rules; 
(i)  any member of the Governing Body, employee or volunteer of the Grant Recipient 

has (a) acted dishonestly or negligently at any time and directly or indirectly to the 
detriment of the Approved Project or (b) taken any actions which, in the reasonable 
opinion of the Authority, bring or are likely to bring the Authority’s name or reputation 
into disrepute; 

(j)  the Grant Recipient ceases to operate for any reason, or it passes a resolution (or 
any court of competent jurisdiction makes an order) that it be wound up or dissolved 
(other than for the purpose of a bona fide and solvent reconstruction or 
amalgamation); 

(k)  the Grant Recipient becomes insolvent, or it is declared bankrupt, or it is placed into 
receivership, administration or liquidation, or a petition has been presented for its 
winding up, or it enters into any arrangement or composition for the benefit of its 
creditors, or it is unable to pay its debts as they fall due; or 

(l)  the Grant Recipient fails to comply with any of the terms and conditions set out in this 
Agreement and fails to rectify any such failure within thirty (30) days of receiving 
written notice detailing the failure. 

(m) the Authority exercises its rights of termination or discontinuance pursuant to clause 
22. 

10.2  Wherever under the Agreement any sum of money is recoverable from or payable by the 
Grant Recipient (including any sum that the Grant Recipient is liable to pay to the Authority in 
respect of any breach of the Agreement), the Authority may unilaterally deduct that sum from 
any sum then due, or which at any later time may become due to the Grant Recipient under 
the Agreement or under any other agreement or contract with the Authority. 

43



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

10 

 

10.3  The Grant Recipient shall make any payments due to the Authority without any deduction 
whether by way of set-off, counterclaim, discount, abatement or otherwise. 

10.4  Should the Grant Recipient be subject to financial or other difficulties which are capable of 
having a material impact on its effective delivery of the Approved Project or compliance with 
this Agreement, it will notify the Authority as soon as possible so that, if possible, and without 
creating any legal obligation, the Authority will have an opportunity to provide assistance in 
resolving the problem or to take action to protect the Authority and the Grant monies. 

 

11.  CONFIDENTIALITY 
11.1  Except to the extent set out in this clause or where disclosure or publication is expressly 

permitted elsewhere in this Agreement, the Grant Recipient shall treat all Confidential 
Information belonging to the Authority as confidential and shall not disclose any Confidential 
Information belonging to the Authority to any other person without the prior written consent of 
the Authority, except to such persons and to such extent as may be necessary for the 
performance of the Grant Recipient’s obligations under the Agreement 

11.2 Except to the extent set out in this clause or where disclosure is expressly permitted 
elsewhere in this Agreement, the Authority shall treat all Confidential Information belonging to 
the Grant Recipient as confidential and shall not disclose any Confidential Information 
belonging to the Grant Recipient to any other person without the prior written consent of the 
Grant Recipient, except to such persons and to such extent as may be necessary for the 
performance of the Authority’s obligations under the Agreement. 

11.3 The Grant Recipient hereby gives its consent for the Authority to publish the Agreement in its 
entirety (but with any information which is Confidential Information belonging to the Authority 
redacted), including from time to time agreed changes to the Agreement, to the general 
public. 

11.4  Where required by the Authority, the Grant Recipient shall ensure that Staff, professional 
advisors and consultants sign a non disclosure agreement prior to commencing any work in 
connection with the Agreement in substantially the form attached at Schedule 5 hereto. The 
Grant Recipient shall maintain a list of the non-disclosure agreements completed in 
accordance with this clause 11.4. Where requested by the Authority, the Grant Recipient shall 
provide the Authority with a copy of the list and, subsequently upon request by the Authority, 
copies of such of the listed non-disclosure agreements as required by the Authority. The 
Grant Recipient shall ensure that its Staff, professional advisors and consultants are aware of 
the Grant Recipient’s confidentiality obligations under the Agreement. 

11.5 The Grant Recipient may only disclose the Authority's Confidential Information to the Staff 
who are directly involved in the performance of the Approved Project and who need to know 
the information, and shall ensure that such Staff are aware of and shall comply with these 
obligations as to confidentiality.  

11.6 The Grant Recipient shall not, and shall procure that the Staff do not, use any of the 
Authority's Confidential Information received otherwise than for the purposes of this 
Agreement.  

11.7 Clauses 11.1 and 11.2 shall not apply to the extent that:  

(a) such disclosure is a requirement of Law placed upon the Party making the disclosure, 
including any requirements for disclosure under the FOIA or the Environmental 
Information Regulations;  

(b) such information was in the possession of the Party making the disclosure without 
obligation of confidentiality prior to its disclosure by the information owner;  

(c) such information was obtained from a third party without obligation of confidentiality;  

(d) such information was already in the public domain at the time of disclosure otherwise 
than by a breach of this Agreement; or  

(e) it is independently developed without access to the other Party's Confidential 
Information.  

44



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

11 

 

11.8 Nothing in clauses 11.1 and 11.2 shall prevent the Authority disclosing any Confidential 
Information obtained from the Grant Recipient:  

(a) for the purpose of the examination and certification of the Authority’s accounts; or 

(b)  for the purpose of any examination pursuant to section 6(1) of the National Audit Act 
1983 of the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which the Authority has used 
its resources; or 

(c) to any government department or any other Contracting Authority and the Grant 
Recipient hereby acknowledges that all government departments or Contracting 
Authorities receiving such Confidential Information may further disclose the 
Confidential Information to other government departments or other Contracting 
Authorities on the basis that the information is confidential and is not to be disclosed 
to a third party which is not part of any government department or any Contracting 
Authority; or 

(d) to any consultant, contractor or other person engaged by the Authority,  

provided that in disclosing information under sub-paragraphs (c) and (d)  the Authority 
discloses only the information which is necessary for the purpose concerned and requests 
that the information is treated in confidence and that a confidentiality undertaking is given 
where appropriate.  

11.9 Nothing in clauses 11.1 to 11.6 shall prevent either Party from using any techniques, ideas or 
Know-How gained during the performance of its obligations under the Agreement in the 
course of its normal business, to the extent that this does not result in a disclosure of the 
other Party’s Confidential Information or an infringement of the other Party’s Intellectual 
Property Rights.  

11.10 The Authority shall use all reasonable endeavours to ensure that any government 
department, Contracting Authority, employee, third party or Sub-Contractor to whom the 
Grant Recipient’s Confidential Information is disclosed pursuant to clause 11.6 is made aware 
of the Authority's obligations of confidentiality.  

11.11 In the event that the Grant Recipient fails to comply with clauses 11.1 to 11.6, the Authority 
reserves the right to terminate the Agreement with immediate effect by notice in writing.  

11.12 In order to ensure that no unauthorised person gains access to any Confidential Information 
or any data obtained in the supply of the G&S under the Agreement, the Grant Recipient 
undertakes to maintain adequate security arrangements that meet the requirements of 
professional standards and best practice. 

11.13 The Grant Recipient will immediately notify the Authority of any breach of security in relation 
to Confidential Information and all data obtained in the supply of the G&S under the 
Agreement and will keep a record of such breaches.  The Grant Recipient will use its best 
endeavours to recover such Confidential Information or data however it may be recorded.  
This obligation is in addition to the Grant Recipient’s obligations under clauses 11.1 to 11.6.  
The Grant Recipient will co-operate with the Authority in any investigation that the Authority 
considers necessary to undertake as a result of any breach of security in relation to 
Confidential Information or data. 

11.14 The Grant Recipient shall, at its own expense, alter any security systems at any time during 
the Grant Period at the Authority’s request if the Authority reasonably believes the Grant 
Recipient has failed to comply with clause 11.12. 

 

12.  FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 

45



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

12 

 

12.1  The Grant Recipient acknowledges that the Authority is subject to the requirements of the 
FOIA and the EIR and shall assist and co-operate with the Authority (at the Grant Recipient's 
expense) to enable the Authority to comply with these information disclosure requirements. 

12.2  The Grant Recipient shall: 
(a)  transfer the request for information to the Authority as soon as practicable after 

receipt and in any event within two (2) working days of receiving a request for 
information; 

(b)  provide the Authority with a copy of all information in its possession or power in the 
form that the Authority requires within five (5) working days (or such other period as 
the Authority may specify) of the Authority requesting that information; and 

(c)  provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the Authority to enable 
the Authority to respond to a request for information within the time for compliance set 
out in section 10 of the FOIA or regulation 5 of the EIR. 

12.3  The Authority shall be responsible for determining at its absolute discretion whether the 
information: 
(a)  is exempt from disclosure in accordance with the provisions of the Freedom of 

Information Act or the Environmental Information Regulations; 
(b)  is to be disclosed in response to a request for information. 

12.4  In no event shall the Grant Recipient respond directly to a request for information unless 
expressly authorised to do so by the Authority. 

12.5  The Grant Recipient acknowledges that (notwithstanding the provisions of clause 11 
(Confidentiality)) the Authority may, acting in accordance with the Codes of Practice under the 
FOIA or the EIR 2004 to disclose information: 
(a)  without consulting with the Grant Recipient; or 
(b)  following consultation with the Grant Recipient and having taken its views into 

account, 
provided always that where clause 12.5(a) applies the Authority shall, in accordance with any 
recommendations of the Code, take reasonable steps, where appropriate, to give the Grant 
Recipient advanced notice, or failing that, to draw the disclosure to the Grant Recipient's 
attention after any such disclosure. 

12.6  The Grant Recipient shall ensure that all information produced in the course of the Agreement 
or relating to the Agreement is retained for disclosure and shall permit the Authority to inspect 
such records as requested from time to time. 

 
13.  DATA PROTECTION 
13.1 The Grant Recipient shall (and shall procure that all of its staff) comply with any notification 

requirements under the DPA and both parties will duly observe all their obligations under the 
DPA which arise in connection with the Agreement. 

13.2 The provision of clause 13.1 shall apply during the Grant Period and indefinitely after its 
expiry.  

 
14.  INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 
14.1  The Grant Recipient shall make all reasonable enquiries concerning Intellectual Property 

Rights and shall ensure that there are no such rights which are required in connection with its 
work on the Approved Project other than those which it owns or which it has permission to 
use. Where it is necessary to obtain permission to use a third party’s Intellectual Property 
Rights in order to complete the Approved Project the Grant Recipient shall: 

a) obtain the necessary permission; 

b) notify the Authority where it has been unable to obtain the relevant permission; and 

c) where the Grant Recipient has or obtains the relevant rights, ensure that it understands 
the scope of the permission(s) it has and that they subsist throughout the Grant Period. 

14.2 Subject to any prior rights and to the rights of third parties, the Grant Recipient hereby 
assigns copyright to the Crown and all other Intellectual Property Rights to the Authority, in all 
reports, documents and things produced in relation to the Approved Project. Without prejudice 
to the generality of the foregoing, any Intellectual Property Rights in or over any Know-How or 
any other material which may be supplied to the Grant Recipient by the Authority or any other 

46



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

13 

 

government department in relation to the Approved Project shall remain vested in the 
Authority or government department (as the case may be) and, for the avoidance of doubt, 
such supply shall entitle the Grant Recipient only to use such rights to the extent necessary to 
perform the Approved Project and shall not constitute an assignment of such intellectual 
property to the Grant Recipient or any other person. 

 
14.3 The information collected pursuant to the Approved Project (excluding any information which 

in the reasonable opinion of the Authority is confidential to the Grant Recipient or which has 
been communicated to the Grant Recipient under a condition that it shall be confidential to the 
Grant Recipient) shall be the property of the Crown and/or the Authority and all original 
documents in whatever form which contain that information, including any computer tape or 
disk, any voice recording and any special computer programme written to give access to the 
information, shall on request be deposited with the Authority. 

 
14.4 The Grant Recipient shall ensure that the third party owner of any Intellectual Property Rights 

that are or which may be used to perform the Approved Project, grants to the Authority a non-
exclusive licence or, if itself a licensee of those rights, shall grant to the Authority an 
authorised sub-licence, to use, reproduce, modify, develop and maintain the Intellectual 
Property Rights in the same.  Such licence or sub-licence shall be non-exclusive, perpetual, 
royalty-free, worldwide and irrevocable and shall include the right for the Authority to sub-
license, transfer, novate or assign.  

 
14.5 The Grant Recipient warrants that the terms of any Sub-Contract shall enable it to comply 

with clause 14.4. 
 
14.6 The Authority grants to the Grant Recipient a revocable, royalty-free, worldwide, non-

exclusive licence (with a right to sub-license, transfer, novate or assign) to use any Intellectual 
Property Rights that the Grant Recipient develops in performance of the Approved Project.  

 
14.7 The Authority may assign any Intellectual Property Rights that have been developed in 

performance of the Approved Project to the Grant Recipient. Such assignment shall be at the 
absolute discretion of the Authority and shall be conditional on the Grant Recipient granting to 
the Authority an irrevocable, royalty-free, worldwide, non-exclusive licence (with a right to 
sub-license) to use such Intellectual Property Rights for any purpose. 

 
 
15.  WARRANTIES 
The Grant Recipient warrants, undertakes and agrees that: 

(a) it has all necessary resources and expertise to deliver the Approved Project (assuming 
due receipt of the Grant); 
(b) it has not committed, nor shall it commit, any Prohibited Act; 
(c) it shall at all times comply with all relevant legislation and all applicable codes of practice 
and other similar codes or recommendations, and shall notify the Authority immediately of any 
significant departure from such legislation, codes or recommendations; 
(d) it shall comply with the requirements of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 and 
any other acts, orders, regulations and codes of practice relating to health and safety, which 
may apply to employees and other persons working on the Approved Project; 
(e) it has and shall keep in place adequate procedures for dealing with any conflicts of 
interest; 
(f) it has and shall keep in place systems to deal with the prevention of fraud and/or 
administrative malfunction; 
(g) all financial and other information concerning the Grant Recipient which has been 
disclosed to the Authority is to the best of its knowledge and belief, true and accurate; 
(h) it is not subject to any contractual or other restriction imposed by its own or any other 
organisation's rules or regulations or otherwise which may prevent or materially impede it 
from meeting its obligations in connection with the Grant; 
(i) it is not aware of anything in its own affairs, which it has not disclosed to the Authority or 
any of the Authority’s advisers, which might reasonably have influenced the decision of the 
Authority to make the Grant on the terms contained in this Agreement; and 

47



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

14 

 

(j) since the date of its last accounts there has been no material change in its financial 
position or prospects. 

 
16.  INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY  
16.1  The Grant Recipient shall, with effect from the Commencement Date, ensure that it holds all 

appropriate forms of insurance necessary for the normal execution of its activities and any 
such extension of cover as may be necessary for the activities or risks associated with the 
activities for which the Authority provides the Grant. The Grant Recipient shall make its 
insurance cover available to the Authority on request.  

16.2 The Authority accepts no liability for any consequences, whether direct or indirect, that may 
come about from the Grant Recipient running the Approved Project, the use of the Grant or 
from withdrawal of the Grant. The Grant Recipient shall indemnify and hold harmless the 
Authority, its employees, agents, officers or Sub-Contractors with respect to all claims, 
demands, actions, costs, expenses, losses, damages and all other liabilities arising from or 
incurred by reason of the actions and/or omissions of the Grant Recipient in relation to the 
Approved Project, the non-fulfilment of obligations of the Grant Recipient under this 
Agreement or its obligations to third parties. 

16.3  Subject to clause 16.2, the Authority’s liability under this Agreement is limited to the payment 
of the Grant. 

 

17. PROCUREMENT AND STATE AIDS 

17.1 Where the Grant Recipient seeks to procure the supply of any goods, works or services from 
a third party it shall ensure that contracts or further distribution of the Grant are procured on a 
basis that complies in all material aspects with all relevant European and UK Legislation on 
public procurement, including without limitation the Public Contracts Regulations 2006 as 
applicable. 

17.2 Where the Grant Recipient reasonably considers that there is an objective justification for not 
complying with clause 17.1 and seeks to rely on such a justification it shall record this in 
writing and make this available to the Authority on request.  

17.3 The Grant Recipient shall not carry out any activities that could be constituted as state-aided, 
and nor shall it pay illegal state aid to any organisation or individual. 

 
18.  PUBLICITY 
18.1  The Grant Recipient shall acknowledge the support of the Authority in any materials that refer 

to the Approved Project and in any written or spoken public presentations about the Approved 
Project. Such acknowledgements (where appropriate or as requested by the Authority) shall 
include the Authority’s name and logo (or any future name or logo adopted by the Authority) 
using the templates provided by the Authority from time to time. 

18.2  In using the Authority’s name and logo, the Grant Recipient shall comply with all reasonable 
branding guidelines issued by the Authority from time to time. 

18.3  The Grant Recipient agrees to participate in and co-operate with promotional activities 
relating to the Approved Project that may be instigated and/or organised by the Authority.  

18.4  The Authority may acknowledge the Grant Recipient's involvement in the Approved Project as 
appropriate without prior notice. 

18.5  The Grant Recipient shall comply with all reasonable requests from the Authority to facilitate 
visits, provide reports, statistics, photographs and case studies that will assist the Authority in 
its promotional and fundraising activities relating to the Approved Project. 

 
19. ENVIRONMENTAL REQUIREMENTS  
19.1 The Grant Recipient shall perform the Approved Project in accordance with the Authority’s 

environmental policy, which is to conserve energy, water, wood, paper and other resources, 
reduce waste and phase out the use of ozone depleting substances and minimise the release 
of greenhouse gases, volatile organic compounds and other substances damaging to health 
and the environment. 

48



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

15 

 

19.2 The Grant Recipient shall pay due regard to the use of recycled products, so long as they are 
not detrimental to the provision of the Approved Project or the environment, to include the use 
of all packaging, which should be capable of recovery for re-use or recycling. 

19.3 The Grant Recipient shall take all possible precautions to ensure that any equipment and 
materials used in the provision of the Approved Project do not contain chlorofluorocarbons, 
halons or any other damaging substances, unless unavoidable, in which case the Authority 
shall be notified in advance of their use. The Grant Recipient shall endeavour to reduce fuel 
emissions wherever possible. 

19.4 In accordance with the Authority’s commitments under the Sustainable Operations on the 
Government Estate (SOGE) targets, the Grant Recipient shall in its delivery of the Approved 
Project assist the Authority in its delivery of the departmental sustainable operations targets 
by conserving energy and water, reducing carbon emissions and waste, respecting 
biodiversity, and increasing recycling where appropriate. 

 
20.  GENERAL 

The Grant Recipient shall use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that in carrying out the 
Approved Project it and anyone acting on its behalf complies with the law which applies in 
England. If the Grant will be distributed outside the United Kingdom and/or the European 
Union the Grant Recipient shall use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that: 

(a) such funding does not contravene the laws of any other country: and 

(b) such funding is not used to support activities which could bring the Authority’s name 
into disrepute. 

 
21.  DURATION 
  Except where otherwise specified, the terms of this Agreement shall apply from the 

Commencement Date until the expiry of the Grant Period at which point any Grant monies 
which remain unspent by the Grant Recipient shall be returned to the Authority. For the 
avoidance of doubt this clause does not release the Grant Recipient from any ongoing 
obligations under this Agreement. 

 
 
 
22.  TERMINATION 
22.1 The Authority may terminate this Agreement and any Grant payments on giving the Grant 

Recipient thirty (30) days written notice for other reason. If the Authority exercises its right to 
terminate under this clause, any Grant monies which remain unspent by the Grant Recipient 
shall be returned to the Authority. 

22.2 The Authority shall be entitled to discontinue the Grant on satisfactory completion of the 
Approved Project for which the Grant is provided or at the end of the Grant Period, whichever 
is earlier. If the Authority exercises its right to discontinue under this clause, any Grant monies 
which remain unspent by the Grant Recipient shall be returned to the Authority. 

 
23.  ASSIGNMENT 

The Grant Recipient may not, without the prior written consent of the Authority, assign, 
transfer, sub-contract, or in any other way make over to any third party the benefit and/or the 
burden of this Agreement or, except as contemplated as part of the Approved Project, transfer 
or pay to any other person any part of the Grant. 

 
24.  WAIVER 

No failure or delay by either party to exercise any right or remedy under this Agreement shall 
be construed as a waiver of any other right or remedy. 

 
25.  NOTICES 
25.1 All notices and other communications in relation to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall 

be deemed to have been duly given if personally delivered, e-mailed, or mailed (first class 
postage prepaid) to the address of the relevant party, as referred to above or otherwise 
notified in writing. If personally delivered or if e-mailed all such communications shall be 

49



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

16 

 

deemed to have been given when received (except that if received on a non-working day or 
after 5.00 pm on any working day they shall be deemed received on the next working day) 
and if mailed all such communications shall be deemed to have been given and received on 
the second working day following such mailing. 

25.2 The authorised representative of the parties for this purpose (which may be amended in 
writing) shall be as follows: 

 Authority: [insert post-title and contact details] 
 Grant Recipient: [insert post-title and contact details] 
 
26.  DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
26.1  The parties shall in good faith attempt to resolve any dispute which arises out of or in relation 

to the Grant within fourteen (14) days.    

26.2 If the parties are unable to resolve the dispute in the way set out in clause 26.1 they shall 
consider and use a process of alternative dispute resolution which is appropriate for the 
dispute and to which they both agree. 

26.3 If the parties agree that mediation is the appropriate means of resolving their dispute they 
shall follow the procedure set out below: 

(a) A neutral person (“the Mediator”) shall be chosen by agreement between the relevant 
parties. Alternatively, any party may within fourteen (14) days from the date of the 
proposal to appoint a mediator, or within fourteen (14) days of notice to any party that 
the chosen mediator is unable or unwilling to act, apply to the Centre for Effective 
Dispute Resolution (“CEDR”) to appoint a mediator. 

(b) The parties shall within fourteen (14) days of the appointment of the mediator meet with 
him/her to agree a timetable and suitable procedure for mediation. 

(c) Unless otherwise agreed, all negotiations and proceedings in the mediation connected 
with the dispute shall be conducted in strict confidence and shall be without prejudice to 
the rights of the parties in any future proceedings. 

(d) If the parties reach agreement on the resolution of the dispute, that agreement shall be 
recorded in writing and shall be binding upon the parties; 

(e) If the parties are unable to agree, either party may invite the Mediator to provide a non-
binding but informative opinion in writing. Such opinion shall be provided on a without 
prejudice basis and shall not be used in evidence in any proceedings relating to the 
dispute without the prior written consent of the relevant parties. 

(f) For a period of sixty (60) days from the date of the appointment of the Mediator, or such 
other period as the parties may agree, neither party may commence any proceedings in 
relation to the matters referred to the Mediator. 

 
27.  NO PARTNERSHIP OR AGENCY 

This Agreement shall not create any partnership or joint venture between the Authority and 
the Grant Recipient, nor any relationship of principal and agent, nor authorise any party to 
make or enter into any commitments for or on behalf of the other party. 

 
28.  JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY 

Where the Grant Recipient is neither a company nor an incorporated entity with a distinct 
legal personality of its own, the individuals who enter into and sign this Agreement on behalf 
of the Grant Recipient shall be jointly and severally liable for the Grant Recipient's obligations 
and liabilities arising under this Agreement. 

 
29.  CONTRACTS (RIGHTS OF THIRD PARTIES) ACT 1999 

This Agreement does not and is not intended to confer any contractual benefit on any person 
pursuant to the terms of the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999. 

50



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

17 

 

 
30.  GOVERNING LAW 

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the law of England 
and the parties irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English courts. This does 
not limit the Authority’s right to commence legal proceedings in any other court of competent 
jurisdiction, including concurrent proceedings.  

 
 

51



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

18 

 

 
SCHEDULE 1 

THE APPROVED PROJECT 
 
[Insert information about the project here from application form] 
 

· Aims and objectives 

· Proposed project  

· Benefits and outputs 

· Contribution to national effort 

· Previous work 

· Monitoring success 

· Dissemination 
 
[Project Plan] 

· Spend profile 

· Milestones and deliverables  
 
 

52



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

19 

 

SCHEDULE 2 
PAYMENT SCHEDULE 

The Authority agrees, subject to the Grant Recipient’s compliance with this Agreement to make the 
following payments for the Approved Project against proper invoices duly received by the Authority.  

 

Amount of Grant Payable Date of Payment 

    

53



Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs, Annex D: Defra Local Authority Air Quality Grant 
Programme 2011/12 Grant Agreement  

20 

 

 
SCHEDULE 3 

BREAKDOWN OF GRANT 
 
 

Item of Expenditure Budget (in UK Sterling) 

 Labour   

 Capital   

 Consumables   

 Other    

 

54


	Agenda
	1 Report of the Assistant Director of Environment and Regulatory Services - Defra Air Quality Grant 2011/2012
	Cabinet Member Report for Defra Air Quality Grant 20112012 enc. 2
	Cabinet Member Report for Defra Air Quality Grant 201120enc. 43 12
	Cabinet Member Report for Defra Air Quality Grant 2011201enc. 4 2
	Cabinet Member Report for Defra Air Quality Grant 20112enc. 4313 012


